1975

William J. Colman v. A. J. Butkovick and Geneva A. Butkovich, G. W. Anderson and Jeanne D. Banks :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff sued to quiet title to a parcel of property located in Park City, Utah, claiming ownership and adverse possession. The defendants Butkovich answered claiming title and possession superior to plaintiff's to all but a small part of the property claimed by plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After trial the lower court entered a decree quieting title to the property in plaintiff based on a finding that an affidavit gave plaintiff color of title. The lower court denied a motion to amend the findings of fact and conclusions of law and to alter the judgment filed by defendants.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to have the decree quieting title in plaintiff reversed and to have a decree entered quieting title in defendants covering the property claimed by defendants.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendants Butkovich obtained their title to the property by two quit-claim deeds from Summit County on July 9, 1964, and April 15, 1965. Summit County had previously, in 1915 and 1940, obtained title by Auditor's Tax Deeds resulting from tax sales in 1910 and 1935. The second deed from the County was given to correct a slight error in the description on the first deed (R. 62).

The Butkoviches thereafter requested Security Title Company to issue title insurance to them on this property. Security Title Company first had Butkoviches convey the property to Security Title Company, using a metes and bounds description, and Security Title Company reconveyed the property to Butkoviches using the same description.

The plaintiff claims his title through a deed to him from Robert T. Banks dated November 12, 1968. There is no conveyance of any kind to Robert T. Banks. However, Banks signed an affidavit asserting that he was trustee of the Assets Corporation which "became the majority owner" of the assets of Park City Townsite Company.

The history of the property involved in this action is contained in the abstract of title introduced in evidence as Exhibit No. 11. Since the entries in this abstract are not in chronological order, summaries of the chain of title were prepared and introduced into evidence as Exhibits 11A and 11B. Because of the numerous defects in the title claimed by Colman, these exhibits are set forth in full. In explanation of the exhibits, the legal description used in each conveyance is underlined and appears just ahead of the conveyances using that description and the numbers in parentheses indicate the page in the abstract where each conveyance is found.

EXHIBIT NO. 11A

According to Abstract of Title No. B-26963
Prepared by Western States Title
Insurance Company

NW ¼ SE ¼ § 16, T2S, R4E, SLB & M

United States of America

↓

(1) Frederick A. Nims Patent 2/26/77

↓

(3) Edward P. Ferry Quit Claim Deed 1/13/80

↓

Those Parts of the NW ¼ SE ¼ § 16, T2S, R4E,

↓ not subdivided into lots and blocks and lying
Southwest of Norfolk Avenue in Park City.

(6) David C. McLaughlin Warranty Deed 2/8/83

↓ NW ¼ of SE ¼ § 16, T2S, R4E, SLM; also all
of the unplatted land lying and being in the
above mentioned legal subdivisions of land.

(44) Oliver C. Lockhart, Trustee Decree 8/19/14

Beneficiaries:

Edward P. Ferry 2/5

Amanda H. F. Hall 1/5 of 2/5

Hannah E. Jones 1/5 of 2/5

Heirs of Mary L. F. Eastman 1/5 of 2/5

Edward P. Ferry 1/5 of 2/5

Frederick A. Nims }
and David D. Erwin } 1/5

No conveyance from Oliver C. Lockhart

An undivided one-half of all the right, title, and
interest of said Edward P. Ferry, of, in and to
the Park City Townsite, situated in Summit,
State of Utah.

William Montague Ferry, guardian of person
and estate of Edward P. Ferry, a mentally in-
competent person.

↓ (10) The Michigan Trust Company

Deed 12/26/13

↓ All its right, title and interest in and for the Park
City Townsite, situated in Summit County, State
of Utah.

(19) The Assets Corporation Deed 12/28/16

No conveyance from the Assets Corporation

All the unplatted land and the unoccupied and unused land lying and being in the NE $\frac{1}{4}$ of the NE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 21, and the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ of the SE $\frac{1}{4}$ and the E $\frac{1}{2}$ of SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 16, Township 2 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

- (23) McCormick & Co., Bankers
Decree of Foreclosure
3/20/16 Rec. 9/16/49

v.

W. I. Snyder, as Trustee

- (12) No buyer named (No sale stated)
Sheriff's Certificate of
Sale 5/23/16
- (14) Park City Townsite Company
Assignment of Certificate
of Sale 11/21/16

NW $\frac{1}{4}$ of SE $\frac{1}{2}$ of § 16, T2S, R4E, SLM

- (16) Park City Townsite Company
Sheriff's Deed 11/21/16

No conveyance from Park City Townsite Company

The remaining assets of said Assets Corporation

- (38) Robert T. Banks By own affidavit 11/12/68
"Assets Corporation became the majority owner of all the property and assets of said Park City Townsite Company except a small holding of W. J. Snyder."

All that part of the NW $\frac{1}{4}$ of the SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of §
16, T2S, R4E, SLM that lies Westerly of Nor-
folk Avenue.

Robert T. Banks, as Trustee and individually

↓
(36) William J. Colman Warranty Deed 11/12/68

EXHIBIT NO. 11B

Chain of Title

According to Abstract of Title No. B-26963

Prepared by Western States

Title Insurance Company

Lots 21 to 32, inclusive, Block 29, Park City, also
16 Lots in rear of Block 29.

D. C. McLaughlin Estate

↓
(43) Summit County Tax Sale 12/19/10

↓
(47) Auditors Tax Deed 6/11/15

All of unplatted land in Block 29, and
all land West of Block 29, and part
of Lot 1; part of Lot "A"; Park City

(49) Summit County Treasurer
↓ (Park City Townsite Co.)

Summit County Tax Sale 12/21/35
↓ Marginal Auditors
Tax Deed 5/25/40

↓
(50) A. J. Butkovich and Geneva A.
Butkovich Quit Claim Deed 7/9/64

(58) Correction Deed Quit Claim Deed 4/15/65

↓
↓ Lots 21 to 32 inclusive, Block 29, and 16 Lots in
the rear of Block 29, all unplatted land in Block

29, and all land West of Block 29 and lots 1 and A, Park City Survey. Metes and Bounds description described to-wit:

BEGINNING at a point which is the S.W. corner of the N.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of the S.E. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 16, T2S, R4E, SLB & M., and running thence East-erly along $\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{1}{4}$ Section line a distance of 1200.0 feet, more or less to a point on the West Line of Lot 2, Block 29, Park City Survey and running thence N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 410 feet; thence S. $66^{\circ}57'$ W. 75 feet; thence, N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 455 feet to a point on the North Line of Block 28, Park City Survey; thence No. $66^{\circ}57'$ E. 75 feet; thence N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 79.3 feet to a point on the N.W. corner of Lot 2, Block 27, Park City Survey; thence S. $66^{\circ}57'$ W. 75 feet; thence No. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 50 feet; thence N. $66^{\circ}57'$ E. 75 feet to a point on the N.W. corner of Lot 4, Block 27, Park City Survey; thence $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 225 feet to a point on the N.W. corner of Lot 13, Block 27, Park City Survey; thence S. $66^{\circ}57'$ W. 75 feet; thence N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 55 feet; thence S. $66^{\circ}57'$ W. 75 feet, thence N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 50 feet, to a point on the North property line of First Street (line extended) thence along said North line (extended) N. $66^{\circ}57'$ E. 75 feet to a point on the S.W. corner of Lot 9, Block 26, Park City Survey; thence N. $23^{\circ}38'$ W. 144.8 feet to a point on the $\frac{1}{4}$ Section line of said Section 16; thence West along said $\frac{1}{4}$ line 490.0 feet to the center of said Section 16; thence S. along the $\frac{1}{4}$ line a distance of 1320.0 feet more or less to the point of beginning.

(31) Security Title Company

Warranty Deed 2/23/66

↓
(33) A. J. Butkovich and
Geneva A. Butkovich

Quit Claim Deed 2/23/66

It should be pointed out that the order in which conveyance (19) appears above has been changed from that on Exhibit No. 11A to further clarify the chain of title.

Contrary to the assertions of Banks in his affidavit (page 38 of Exhibit No. 11) that the corporation was winding up and that he was named as trustee to dispose of the assets, no assets of the Assets Corporation were transferred to Banks and the corporation was not winding-up. Instead, the minutes of the directors' meeting on the date referred to in the affidavit (Exhibit No. 13) show that the secretary was instructed to reinstate the company in good standing, the president was authorized to negotiate a loan from the bank. Further, the corporation continued to exist, was conveying property, redeeming taxes, selling patented mining claims, all as a corporation, and depositing the proceeds of sales in a corporate bank account, in 1940, 1944 and 1961 (Exhibits No. 14 & No. 15).

Moreover, Banks wrote a letter on September 20, 1968, giving instructions on how to establish title to this property which he knew he didn't have. This letter was introduced as Exhibit No. 16 and is set forth in full under Point I of the Argument section of this brief.

After Butkovich received his deed to the property in 1964, he took a bulldozer on the property and blocked off entrances, drove in stakes and tied ribbons on trees

to mark the boundaries and put up "no trespassing" signs. He also cleared brush off the ground and leased the property to United Park City Mines Company for use as a ski run (R. 62-63, Exh. 20).

After Colman received his deed in 1968 he also claims to have posted "no trespassing" signs on the property and to have chased off Christmas tree cutters (R. 10). Beyond that he has taken no action with respect to the property that would show any ownership (R. 15). At the trial his attorneys admitted that he did not have possession of the property "within the meaning of the statute" (R. 74).

Upon learning of the claim of Butkovich to this property, Colman filed this action on June 24, 1971, praying for a decree quieting title in him based on ownership and adverse possession.

ARGUMENT

In this case the plaintiff, Colman, claims to be the owner of the fee title to the property in dispute. His claim of adverse possession was abandoned at trial because he didn't have possession (R. 74) and had not paid taxes for the required seven years. The defendants Butkovich are the owners of a tax title obtained by quitclaim deed from Summit County, which obtained title by Auditor's Tax Deed years earlier. While the validity of tax titles are often challenged, the validity of defendants' tax title is not relevant here because the plaintiff has the burden to establish his title first before he has

standing to challenge defendants' tax title. There are two fundamental points which require the reversal of the decree quieting title in plaintiff and the dismissal of plaintiff's case. These points will be considered first and then the arguments establishing defendants' right to have the property in dispute quieted in them will follow.

POINT I.

PLAINTIFF HAS NO TITLE TO THE PROPERTY AND THEREFORE NO STANDING TO CHALLENGE DEFENDANTS' TITLE.

A fundamental point of Utah law in cases of this kind is that plaintiff can prevail only on the strength of his own title and not because of any weakness in the title of defendants. *Olsen v. Park Daughters Investment Company*, 29 U. 2d 421, 511 P. 2d 145 (1973); *Music Service Corporation v. Walton*, 20 U. 2d 16, 432 P. 2d 334 (1967); *Babcock v. Dangerfield*, 98 Utah 10, 94 P. 2d 862 (1939). As to the quality of title which plaintiff must establish, this Court stated in the *Music Service* case, *supra*, at page 336, quoting from the earlier case of *Cottrell v. Pickering*, 32 Utah 62, 88 Pac. 696 (1907):

“ . . . Of course, where one proves a perfect chain of paper title from its original source, no proof of actual possession at all is required. In such event the presumption would be all sufficient and the title would be a complete and perfect title. But when this is not done, a title *prima facie* is shown by a grant from some one who held posses-

sion, or by such grant and possession under it by the grantee . . .”

These same requirements are set forth in the *Babcock* case, *supra*.

In the instant case the plaintiff introduced only the deed from Banks to himself. He has no chain of title from the patentee, he has admitted that he did not have possession of the property, and he did not attempt to prove possession by his grantee, Banks, as required by the above cases. Therefore, he has shown no title in himself and his complaint should have been dismissed.

The chain of title, or lack of it, is shown on Exhibit No. 11A set forth in the Statement of Facts above. There are numerous defects in this chain, all of which should be obvious from reading Exhibit No. 11A, but are summarized here:

1. No conveyance from Oliver C. Lockhart (44).
2. The conveyance from William Montague Ferry, as guardian of Edward P. Ferry (10), at most, could convey a one-fifth beneficial interest in the “Park City Townsite,” which is not the description by which his trustee took title.
3. The Assets Corporation, at most, received a one-fifth interest in the “Park City Townsite,” whatever that is (19).
4. No conveyance from the Assets Corporation.
5. The Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale (12) is in-

- adequate since it does not indicate that the property was sold nor does it name a buyer.
6. The Sheriff's Deed (16) uses a different property description than that in the Decree of Foreclosure (23).
 7. No conveyance from the Park City Town-site Company.
 8. Affidavit of Robert T. Banks (38) is not competent to establish title since it is hearsay, self-serving and not the best evidence.
 9. The description of the property in Banks' affidavit (38) is inadequate and shows on its face that the Assets Corporation was, at most, only a part owner of some unidentified assets.
 10. There is no conveyance to Banks.

All of these defects in the title of plaintiff were admitted by plaintiff's own expert witness (R. 40-53). The plaintiff, however, overlooks all of these defects and relies solely on the affidavit of Banks to establish his title. The affidavit is, of course, hearsay and was properly objected to as such. It is thus inadmissible to establish any of the facts which it asserts. The fact that it was recorded does not make it admissible. That no effect is to be given to such self-serving recitals in recorded documents is established by *State Road Commission v. Thompson*, 17 U. 2d 412, 413 P. 2d 603 (1966). The facts in that case were almost identical to those now before the Court. There, the claimant of the fee title received a quit-claim deed from Harriet Allenbach. The deed contained a re-

cital that she was the widow of Jacob I. Allenbach, who was the record title holder at that time. This Court stated:

“A recital in a deed which would indicate that the grantor is an heir or otherwise might deraign title from a record owner is merely a self-serving declaration. . . . ‘The recital is, of course, no evidence in favor of anyone claiming under the grantor. It is no more competent as evidence, as against a stranger to the deed, of the facts stated, than it would be if embodied in a letter or any other paper.’” (Quoting 6 Thompson on Real Property, § 3110 (1962 Replacement) (Emphasis added.))

In the *Thompson* case both parties had been paying taxes on the property although neither had been in actual possession. The claimant of the legal title had challenged the tax title of the other party and the tax title was proved to be defective. However, the Court held that since the party claiming the legal title had failed to prove its title (the hearsay recital in the deed being ineffective), it *had no standing* to challenge the tax title even though that tax title was defective. It would appear impossible to find a case more dispositive of the issues now before this Court. Giving the plaintiff the benefit of every doubt and accepting Banks’ affidavit at face value, plaintiff has not proved his title and has no standing to challenge the title of defendants.

However, the plaintiff’s difficulties with Banks’ affidavit are only beginning. The most serious difficulty is

that the assertions in the affidavit are false and it appears that he attempted to establish title in himself by fraud. Banks was faced with two hurdles to get the property into his own name. In the admitted absence of any conveyances, he had to get title from Park City Townsite Company to Assets Corporation, of which he said he was a director and officer, and then to himself. The affidavit attempts to assert that since 1916 the Assets Corporation was the "*majority owner* of all the property and assets of Park City Townsite Company," and that in 1920 the President of Assets Corporation, by a resolution of Assets Corporation, "was directed to *take over the affairs* of Park City Townsite Company."

Such phraseology is hardly the epitome of legal precision. But it is clear in reading the affidavit in a manner most favorable to Banks and to plaintiff that the Assets Corporation was not the *sole* owner of the property and assets of Park City Townsite Company, and no attempt at all is made to show how plaintiff has succeeded to the other ownership interests. Moreover, it is difficult to understand how the resolution of one corporation to "take over the affairs" of another has any effect in accomplishing this.

Even ignoring these rather massive problems, the affidavit also asserts

"That on or about the 19th day of October, 1936, at a regular meeting of the directors of said Assets Corporation, on motion duly made and passed the remaining assets of said Assets Corporation

were transferred, assigned and delivered to me for the purpose of paying all obligations of said corporation and disposing of any remaining assets of the corporation and dispersing any and all moneys received from sale or disposal of said assets to the remaining stockholders of said corporation."

The problem is that the minutes of that directors' meeting on October 19, 1936, which have been admitted in evidence as Exhibit 13, show that Banks' recital of what happened is totally false! Rather than show that the remaining assets of Assets Corporation were transferred to Banks for purposes of paying all obligations, disposing of any remaining assets and "dispursing (sic)" all moneys received from sale of assets to the remaining stockholders, as Banks alleges, the minutes show that the secretary was instructed to reinstate the company in good standing by payment of delinquent franchise taxes, and to redeem certain mining claims from delinquent taxes. The president, Mr. Ferry, was authorized to negotiate a loan from the First National Bank of Salt Lake City. These are hardly the acts of a company undergoing dissolution. The only reference in those minutes vaguely reminiscent of the Bank's affidavit is authorization to Mr. Ferry (*not* Mr. Bank) to "take over the affairs of the company with a view to disposing of its property." It is not clear from the minutes what company is meant by "that company," but even if it were intended to be the Park City Townsite Company, such authority was clearly not given to Banks.

Far from being a corporation which in 1936 had authorized Banks to wind up its affairs, the corporation in 1940 and 1944 was conveying property, without any reference to Banks, and was redeeming claims from delinquent taxes as shown by the minutes in Exhibit 14.

Exhibit 15 is the minutes of a board meeting of the Assets Corporation in 1961, which Banks signed as Secretary. These minutes authorize the sale of certain patented claims, and report the sale of other claims, the proceeds from which were deposited in the corporate bank account. Obviously, Banks was far from acting as a trustee to liquidate the corporation.

Far more serious is a letter from Banks himself written shortly prior to the date of his deed to plaintiff, which has been admitted in evidence as Exhibit 16 and which shows most clearly that Banks himself knew his claim to title was improper.

The letter in its entirety is as follows:

“Yours of 9-16 and 9-17 with Earnest Money Agreement arrived yesterday. The price is O.K. and I am enclosing 2 signed copies of the E.M.A.

“Now — how to get title to this acreage. I have gotten the papers from the auditor who is still ill, and given them to my son Bill — and he will go thru them in the next few days — and dig out and give me anything that has any reference to Park City Townsite — and I’ll send them to you.

“When I received all the data on the Assets Corp. from the lawyer in Idaho Falls, who had

received them from your office after Geo. Critchlow died they included stock book — seal — minute book and ledger of the Assets Corp. — but nothing of this nature of the Park City Townsite Co. What happened to these I don't know, only George knew the story. The only thing I know of the Townsite Co. are in the minutes of the Assets Corp. and contained in the pages I cut out of the Minutes Book and mailed to you — and from the old ledger which I quoted to you in full specifying that the Assets Corp. took over the Townsite Co. at an assumed value of \$2300 — That was Dec. 20 -1916. This valuation was later raised to \$25,000 in August 10th 1922 — and that's it unless Bill can dig up something. George Critchlow must have had the stock book at one time because in the minutes, which I sent you, they issued 10 shares each of Townsite stock to Bill Ferry and F. Tom Boise — I suppose to qualify as directors — or some such purpose -

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