1975

William J. Colman v. A. J. Butkovick and Geneva A. Butkovich, G. W. Anderson and Jeanne D. Banks : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE 1964 AND 1965 DEEDS FROM SUMMIT COUNTY WERE A NULLITY AS TO THIS PROPERTY — VOID BECAUSE OF TOTALLY DEFECTIVE DESCRIPTION AND

PLAINTIFF IS NOT BARRED BY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The law in Utah and generally is that a legal description must be adequate to identify the property if a conveyance is to be effective. This applies to tax deeds as well as to ordinary conveyances. Let us cite the three cases identified in Judge Sorensen's Memorandum Decision. The critical issue is the sufficiency of the portions of the two tax deeds from Summit County:

1964 "also land West of Block 29".
1965 "all land West of this Block." (29PC)

In *Edwards v. City of Santa Paula*, Calif. 1956, 292 P.2d 31, the issues in the quiet title suit revolved around a tax sale and deed referring to certain lots in "Block 68 Subdivision". There was no Block 68 Subdivision of record in the Recorder's Office. In the decision holding that the fee title owner would have been barred by the statute of limitations, except for the fact that the description in the deed was fatally defective, the Court said in part:

"To be sufficient the description must be such that the land can be identified or located on the ground by use of the same. *Best. v. Wohlford*, 144 Cal. 733, 736, 78 P. 293. Parol evidence is always admissible in aid of application of the description to its subject matter, but not for the purpose of completing a description which is inherently not susceptible of application to the ground."

"There are no presumptions or intendments in favor of the description of a tax deed. *Sinai v. Mul*, 80 Cal. App.2d 277, 280, 181 P.2d; *Harvey v. Meyer*, 117 Cal. 60, 64, 48, P. 1014. The intention of the assessor or grantor (state) is not a proper subject of inquiry for the proceeding is *in invitum*, the property owner has no intention which enters into the deed, he may stand upon its insufficiency, and the taxing agency or the state must adhere to settled basic rules in describing the property or the deed will be void."

Meyerkort v. Warrington (Mississippi), 1944, 19 So. 2d. 433. A tax sale was conducted in which the lands were described as part of certain sections:

"This alleged tax sale, as well as the assessments upon which it was based, was utterly void for want of description. The pretended descriptions were as follows:

'Pt. Sec. 28 Tp. 12 R. 3 E, 5 acres,' and 'Pt. Sec. 29 Tp. 12 R 12 E, 100 acres,' and 'Pt. Sec. 30 Tp. 12 R 12 E, 29 acres,' and the other four descriptions were in like terms. That such an attempted description is no description whatever and that a tax deed containing the nullity is no deed at all has been settled in several of our cases, among which are *Cogburn v. Hunt*, 54 Miss. 676, and *Tierney v. Brown*, 65 Miss. 563, 5 So. 104, 7 Am. St. Rep. 679."

"Appellees' third contention is that appellants, the Meyerkorts, are barred by Chapter 196, Laws 1934, Sec. 717, Code 1942, because suit was not brought within two years after April 4, 1934, the

effective date of that Act. The sale to the State being utterly void for want of description, there was no tax deed to the land here in question, wherefore the cited statute does not apply, nor does any other such statute, save the ten-year statute of adverse possession, and this only to the lands actually occupied, and not to the calls of the deed; for in a tax paper such as in this case there are no calls. We pursue this issue no further than to cite *Pearce v. Perkins*, 70 Miss. 276, 12 So. 205, and *Patterson v. Morgan*, 161 Miss. 807, 138 So. 362—statutes of limitation do not run in favor of the holder of a tax deed void on its face. 61 C.J. p. 1427.”

Thus, in this case, it was held that the descriptions in the tax deed were void, hence the statute of limitations would not be initiated nor run against the owner.

The Utah case cited is *Burton v. Hoover*, 1937, 93 Utah 498, 74 Pac. 2d 652. This involved a quiet title procedure on lands in Wasatch County. The tax title was based upon a purported description of lands, “Sec. 7-5-4” and “Sec. 18-5-4”. The Court held that notwithstanding the legislative authorization for abbreviations (Sect. 80-1-6 R.S. Utah 1933, now Sec. 59-1-6 U.C.A. 1953) the tax deed was void as no realty was described as the township and range were not indicated. Citations were given of like matters and that such are “confusing in the extreme, and intolerable when employed as a means by which to divest title to real estate without the consent of the owner”.

“And the omission to designate whether the

range is east or west, and the township north or south, is likewise held fatal. *Wilson v. Jarron*, 23 Idaho 563, 131 P.12; *Sears v. Murdock*, 59 Or. 211, 117 P. 305; *Noble v. Watrous*, *supra*. The first requisite in a description of real property is a definite basic starting point, which is entirely lacking when, as here, the description fails to indicate any township or range, or, if that were indicated, whether north or south, or east or west, or even from which of two meridians the land is to be located.'

In Utah we have another decision that touches upon this issue, namely *Ferguson v. Mathis*, 96 Utah 442, 85 P.2d 827. There the court construed the validity of a tax deed identifying Lot 15 of Highland Park "Subdivision", and held that the use of the word "addition" in place of "subdivision" was not a fatal defect. A general statement of the law in Utah is found at page 828 as follows:

"Was then the description of the property in the tax sale proceedings so indefinite or erroneous as to invalidate such proceedings? The Courts have consistently held that if a description in tax proceedings is too vague, too indefinite, to notify the owner that it is his property that is being taxed, and insufficient to inform prospective purchasers as to what property is to be sold, the resulting tax title after sale is void" (underling ours)

Olsen v. Bagley, 10 Utah 492, 37 P. 739; *Tintic Undine Mining Company v. Ercanbrack, et al.*, 93 Utah 561, 74 P.2d 1184."

A very extensive annotation of the law relating to ambiguities in descriptions of lands in deeds and whether parol evidence may be submitted to explain such ambiguities, is found in 68 A.L.R. 4-105. At page 65 is a discussion of ambiguous descriptions in deeds executed at judicial sales. It is stated there that the courts have usually applied a stricter rule of construction in case of a deed executed at a judicial sale, such as tax deeds, than in the case of a deed between individuals.

An extensive annotation is in 133 A.L.R. 570 which deals with the applicability of specific statutes of limitations relating to tax titles. The summary of the holdings as made by the editor of the annotation is as follows:

“Where the description in a tax assessment or tax deed does not describe the property purported to have been sold for taxes, or the description thereof is so vague, uncertain or erroneous that the property in question cannot be identified, it has been held or stated that limitation periods provided for the purpose of barring attacks on tax sales are not applicable to protect tax titles based thereon.”

A reading of the cases cited in the annotation reveals that descriptions far more comprehensive than the one involved here have been held to be patently insufficient, and as a result the tax deed void and the statute of limitations inapplicable.

The fatal defect in the two deeds from Summit

County to the Butkovich is that the conflict with Plaintiff's property would be based upon, if at all, the descriptions, "also land West of Block", No perimeter of the parcel is given. Does it run westerly to the Pacific Ocean, to the West line of Utah, Summit County or to the summit of the next mountain? The fatal uncertainty of this was testified to by the licensed surveyor, Mr. Jones (*supra*) when he said that he could not survey or locate such a tract.

In consequence, the Butkovichs acquired no right, title or interest in property adverse to Plaintiff. There is no basis for attempting by speculation to clarify this void description by use of parol evidence. In any event, no official of Summit County was called to explain that verbiage. In *Davidson v. Robbins*, 30 Utah 2d 338, 517 P.2d 1026, your Court held that parol evidence is admissible *to apply*, but not to supply, a description of lands in a contract. That decision can give no comfort to appellants in this case.

We are not unmindful that the Utah Legislature strove mightily to cloak tax titles with a mantle of strength. The enactment of the sections relating to the statutes of limitations were for that very purpose. Appellants point to Section 78-12-5.1 and 78-12-5.2, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, to claim that Plaintiff's cause of action is barred. They say that more than four years had passed from the date of the first tax deed on July 6, 1964, until filing of this action on June 24, 1971. Sec-

tion 78-12-5.1 is the seven year statute and 78-12-5.2 is the four year statute. The thrust of the Appellant's position is that Plaintiff was not in possession as required by said two sections.

Had the Butkovichs acquired *prima facie* valid title to the involved property by the deeds from Summit County, some merit would be conceded for the assertion of that position. However, where the tax title as to these lands is *fatally* defective because the same does not describe the realty, then the tax title statute of limitations cannot be asserted.

II.

DEFENDANTS, BUTKOVICH, CREATED NOTHING BY THE 1966 DEED EXCHANGE WITH METES AND BOUNDS DESCRIPTIONS.

The complete inadequacy of the Butkovichs' tax deed must have been realized by him shortly after the 1964 deed as he applied to Summit County for a correctory deed in 1965. This was basically a change of the word "also" to "all" and in no way placed any dimensions or perimeter to the land "west of said Block". Mr. Butkovich testified that later he went to Security Title Company and was told he must get a "proper description on it" and could not even then insure it until five years had passed. (Tr. 68). Then he brought to Security Title Company a legal description from which was prepared a

Warranty Deed from the Butkovichs to Security Title and a Quit-Claim Deed to the Butkovichs as joint tenants from Security Title (Exhs. P-3 and P-4 respectively) both dated February 15, 1966. These were recorded February 23, 1966.

No one has advised the Court of the origin of the metes and bounds description supplied by Mr. Butkovich for the deeds. The surveyor denied creating such. He had good reason for doing so, as it not only encompasses land owned by Mr. Colman (plaintiff herein) but several residences which are not owned or claimed by any of the parties hereto. It appears to be an irresponsible and reckless attempt by a wild description to initiate a title where none previously existed.

This is the first time that the Butkovichs appear of record to have any asserted interest in the involved lands. However, this was sort of a "bootstrap operation" whereby the Butkovichs tried to assert an interest by creating it through their own deed to Security Title. Prior to that time, they had no interest as the two Summi County deeds did not have a valid legal description which could be platted, surveyed or possessed. This fact was known to the Butkovichs as evidenced by the refusal of Security Title to insure and requiring that Mr. Butkovich get a legal description, exchange deeds and then wait for five years.

We observe that the Appellants cite the case of

Peterson v. Callister, 6 Utah 2d 359, 313 P.2d 814. Here a tax title was being litigated and the four year statute (Sect. 78-12-5.1, U.C.A. 1953) was asserted. The Court's decision *affirmed* the purpose of that statute as one of repose "after another has received a tax title *valid on its face*". (emphasis ours). That is the problem which Mr. Butkovich was trying to overcome. His tax deed was *not* valid on its face. He recognized it. Security Title recognized it. In an apparent effort to be helpful, he was told to bring in a valid legal description, exchange deeds, record them and then wait for five years. No greater confirmation of the invalidity of the two deeds from Summit County could be asked.

III.

PLAINTIFF HAS COLOR OF TITLE TO THE PROPERTY

IV.

DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN PLAINTIFF IS PROPER AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The evidence of Plaintiff's title is direct and is shown by Exh. 1-A which reflects that title was in Park City Townsite (a corporation) by a Sheriff's deed November 21, 1916, and in The Assets Corporation by a deed from Michigan Trust Company dated December

28, 1916. No recorded conveyances appear from either corporation since 1916. In 1968 we find the recorded Affidavit of Robert T. Banks which fully explains how he became the Trustee and owner of such assets in these two inactive corporations. The final step is the November 12, 1968, warranty deed from Robert T. Banks "as Trustee and individually" to William J. Colman, Plaintiff and Respondent herein.

This established in the record of this case prima facie evidence of title in plaintiff, William J. Colman. Judge Sorensen enquired as to the "quality of title" essential to enable judgment to be rendered in favor of the plaintiff in this proceeding. With over 52 years of continuous uninterrupted title in the corporations, 1916 to 1968, a clear "root of title" was proven within the intent and purpose of Chapter 9, Title 57, Utah Code Annotated 1953, relating to Marketable Record Title. That is the "unbroken chain of title of record to any interest in land for forty years", as defined by Section 57-9-1.

The adoption of this Chapter by the Legislature of Utah was an effort to wipe out old concepts of absolute marketability and to relate the issue to a more recent period of time (40 years). This pattern has now been adopted by many states as a necessity, as chains of title grow longer and longer (this one started in 1877 by U.S. Patent). In recognition of the newness of the approach, our Legislature gave a guide to the Courts

of Utah for interpretation. Section 57-9-9, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, reads,

“This act shall be liberally construed to effect the legislative purpose of simplifying and facilitating land title transactions. . .”

The Utah State Bar Association likewise took steps in aid of such interpretation and the fundamental purpose of placing at rest old land title defects and facilitating current land transactions. Having in mind the 52 years, 1916 to 1968, let us consider the impact and guidance in the Title Standards of the Utah State Bar. Standards 46 through 56 deal with various phrases of the Marketable Title Act. Standard 47 refers to “a connected series of conveyances *or other title transactions* of public record in which the *root of title* has been a matter of public record for at least forty years.” (underlining is ours).

Mr. Colman's title has such a root, going back to 1916. It seems significant that the Standard uses the phrase “or other title transactions” (taken from Section 57-9-1 of the statute) in addition to the reference to “conveyance”. This is a clear recognition that the curative purposes of this wise legislative step might involve the application of liberal interpretation to other documents. The combination of the Affidavit and the Warranty Deed in 1968 by Robert T. Banks is such “other title transaction” of significant import to transfer title to Mr. Colman. We note that he warranty deed to Mr.

Colman is by Mr. Banks "as Trustee" as well as in an individual capacity. The concurrent Affidavit, read along with the warranty deed, show that he was endeavoring to pass the complete title of The Assets Corporation and Park City Townsite Company to Mr. Colman. Had we the task of drafting the deeds now, perhaps more exact words of art might have been employed. Mr. Banks is deceased now, so we cannot go back to a correctory deed.

Title Standard 48 refers to the language of "purporting to divest", as found in Section 57-9-1(2) of the statute. The two deeds in 1916, one from the Sheriff to Park City Townsite Company and one from The Michigan Trust Company to The Assets Corporation, certainly purported to divest title. The Sheriff's Deed described the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 16, Township 2 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, which is the property at issue. The other deed was more general. Now the next conveyance in 1968 to Mr. Colman is a *Warranty Deed* by Mr. Banks "as Trustee and individually", and such certainly divests all title which grantor had, both as Trustee for the record title owners and individually. Section 57-1-12 relating to Warranty Deeds says:

"Such deed when executed as required by law shall have the effect of a conveyance in fee simple to the grantee, his heirs and assigns, of the premises therein named, together with all the appurtenances, rights and privileges thereunto be-

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